
THE UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING 
 

MINUTES OF THE TRUSTEES 
 

June 15, 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The final minutes can be found on the University of Wyoming Board of Trustees website at 

http://www.uwyo.edu/trustees/



TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING AGENDA 
June 15, 2016 

 
WORK SESSIONS 
Budget Reduction Plans Discussion, Nichols/Mai .......................................................................... 1 

• FY16 Sweep Update   
• UW (Agency 067)  

o SER (separate line item in agency 067)  
o Tier 1 Engineering (separate line item in agency 067)  
o NCAR MOU (separate line item in agency 067)  

• WICHE (Agency 069)  
• Medical Education (Agency 167)  
• Enhanced Oil Recovery (Agency 070)  

FY 2017 UW Operating Budget Discussion, Nichols/Mai .............................................................. 4 
FY17 Supplemental Budget to Governor, Nichols/Mai .................................................................. 7 
FY18 Budget Timeline, Nichols/Mai .............................................................................................. 8 
Gift Policy Discussion, Miller ......................................................................................................... 9 
Real Property and Construction Project Updates, Miller/Mai ......................................................... 10 
Fall 2016 Projected Enrollment and Campaign, Axelson ................................................................ 11 
Mick and Susie McMurry High Altitude Performance Center Update, Mai/Miller/Blalock .......... 14 
Provost/Vice President for Academic Affairs Search Update, Gern ............................................... 15 
Professors of Practice Update, Bostrom/Tucker Readdy ................................................................. 16 
Request for Federal Grant to Add Satellite Residency in Laramie, Steiner/Kevin Murray ............ 17 
Discussion of Governor’s Request for Joint Program Involving the Wyoming Business Council and 
UW on Economic Development, MacPherson/McKinley ............................................................... 20 
Trustee Retreat Planning Update, MacPherson ............................................................................... 21 
 
ITEMS FOR APPROVAL 

• Approval of the FY 2017 UW Operating Budget 
• Appointment of Board members – UW Research Corporation (WRI’s Board) – Gern 
• Approval of Revisions to Gift Policy – Miller/Mai  
• Approval of Revision to UW Regulations 2-178 and 2-179 – Miller  
• Approval of ASUW Finance Policy Changes and ASUW Reserve Request – Axelson 
• Approval of Changes to ASUW Constitution – Axelson  
• Approval of Vendor Selection for Fiscal System (per discussion during Executive 

Session) – True/Mai 
 

 
  



THE UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING 
MINUTES OF THE TRUSTEES 

June 15, 2016 
 Marian H. Rochelle Gateway Center, Salons D&E  

Laramie, Wyoming 
  
As reflected in the public session meeting minutes, the Board of Trustees of the University 

Wyoming met in Laramie, Wyoming, Wednesday, June 15, 2016.  Board of Trustees President 

John MacPherson called the meeting to order at 8:06 a.m.  Project Coordinator of the UW Veterans 

Center Marty Martinez led the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance with students from the UW 

Veterans Center.  Trustee Jeff Marsh moved to enter Executive Session for the purposes of contract 

negotiation, confidential information as a matter of law and real estate.  Trustee Dave Bostrom 

seconded.  All trustees were in favor, and the Board entered Executive Session at 8:12 a.m.  The 

Board re-entered public session at 9:54 a.m. 

 

Trustee Jeff Marsh moved to enter Executive Session for the purpose of real estate.  Trustee Dave 

Bostrom seconded.  All trustees were in favor, and the Board entered Executive Session at 11:48 

a.m.   The Board reentered public session at 12:45 p.m. 

 

Trustee Dave Bostrom acknowledged Vice Chairman Brimmer Kunz and her leadership on the 

Board and in the legislature.  He mentioned that the Board really appreciated her and her mother.  

Vice Chairman Kunz stated that she was humbled.  She noted that as she moved into the position 

as chair of the UW Foundation, there would be difficult times but also opportunities.  She stated 

that she was happy to have UW President Nichols and everyone working together.  Vice Chairman 

Brimmer Kunz then made a commitment to the Board that she would do everything in her power 

to implement the University’s agenda.  She then thanked the Board for their time and noted that 

she appreciated that everyone was committed to the University.  The Board concluded their 

meeting with a business meeting.   

 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 1  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Budget Reduction Plans Discussion, Nichols/Mai 

• FY16 Sweep Update   
• UW (Agency 067)  
• WICHE (Agency 069)  
• Medical Education (Agency 167)  
• Enhanced Oil Recovery (Agency 070)  

  
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
Vice President for Administration Bill Mai referred the Board to two handouts.  He noted that the 
Board had already discussed some of this information during the March and May 2016 meetings.  
Vice President Mai explained the budget cuts due to the penny plan.  He discussed in detail the 
excel sheet handout [see last page of attachment A].  Vice President Mai shared information from 
the Consensus Revenue Estimating Group (CREG) report and the resulting Governor’s action.  
Vice President Mai noted that further reductions were needed for FY17 and that they were outlined 
in the handout.  He stated that UW would need an additional $32 million cut for the biennium.   
 
Trustee Mike Massie noted that this information was helpful.  However, he added that he would 
like further details, including how UW would come up with $32 million in cuts.  Vice President 
Mai responded that he was currently reviewing the cuts from a high level but that he would share 
how the cuts would be handled with Trustee Massie.  He continued to explain the spreadsheet 
handout and the cuts for SER, Tier I engineering, and the specific details for the NCAR cut.  Vice 
President Mai then explained the budget reductions for agency 167, medical education.   
 
UW President Laurie Nichols stated that she had begun her position about a month ago.  She 
explained that the planning for the penny plan budget cut had begun and was completed before she 
took office.  She noted that she was working with deans and vice presidents to approach these 
additional cuts.  UW President Nichols noted that she had begun with a conceptual plan and had 
held a campus meeting to communicate the scope and approach to budget cuts with the community.  
She noted that many campus community members attended those meetings.  UW President 
Nichols explained that the PowerPoint she was sharing with the Board was the one that she also 
shared with the campus community [see attachment B].  She briefly reviewed the PowerPoint with 
the Board, noting the impacts of the penny plan and one-time budget reallocation, such as the fiscal 
systems update and the utility shortfalls.   UW President Nichols discussed the principles they 
were using while cutting budgets, as these principles would help UW stay centered as decisions 
were made [see attachment A].  She stated that it was critical to maintain student success and 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 2  
 
scholarly research, and to continue to have a statewide presence.  UW President Nichols discussed 
diversifying revenue streams and the timeline for the budget cuts and reallocations.  She explained 
several of her strategies to reduce budgets such as driving out inefficiencies, preserving people, 
eliminating vacancies, standardizing workloads, eliminating 50-99% time positions, not allowing 
overtime, offering a retirement incentive, raising caps on courses, limiting travel, and capping 
student labor costs.  UW President Nichols noted that they were not trying to reduce the workforce 
at this time, as reducing the workforce by July 1 in time for the new fiscal year would not result in 
thoughtful reductions.  She explained her cost-saving strategies for FY18, which would include 
program reviews, organization and structure review, reviewing administrative appointments, and 
analyzing positions (nine months instead of 12 months).  UW President Nichols discussed new 
revenue streams for FY18, such as using UW Foundation funds, program fees, as well as having a 
strategic enrollment plan and tuition increases.  She discussed the long-term planning, such as 
creating a strategic plan, diversifying revenue, the impact of a new fiscal system, implementing a 
new budget model, having a strategic enrollment plan, a residence hall plan, driving research and 
technology transfers, implementing a merit salary policy, generating more private and public 
partnerships, and implementing a capital campaign.   
 
Trustee Mike Massie responded that the plan sounded good.  He stated that it did partially answer 
his questions but that the 70 positions that were eliminated might not have been eliminated equally 
across campus.  Trustee Massie asked if there were some areas of campus that were being hit 
harder once the full plan was implemented.  
  
UW President Nichols responded that this was not a perfect plan and that the positions were 
eliminated because UW needed to come up with fast cost-saving measures.  She noted that UW 
now had an additional 15 vacancies and that it could begin to be strategic about how to fill them.  
  
Trustee Massie asked if some areas had been hit harder than others with the elimination of vacant 
positions.  UW President Nichols asked Vice President Mai to respond.   
 
Vice President Mai responded that there had been allegations that Academic Affairs had faced 
more vacancies than other departments, but he noted that that was not the case as only 19 of the 
70 positions eliminated were faculty.   
 
Trustee Massie asked again if some areas had been hit harder.  Vice President Mai responded that 
that depended upon what was being measured—the number of positions or the dollar amount that 
went to each position.  He stated that the number of positions eliminated were fairly evenly 
distributed.   
 
UW President Nichols noted that she was working with the vice presidents to fill some of those 
eliminated positions as further positions had been vacated.  
  
Trustee Dave Palmerlee asked for further explanation on how the vacancies would save funds.  
Vice President Mai noted that when the 70 positions were eliminated, those line items in the budget 
were removed.   



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 3  
 
UW President Nichols added that the funds for those line items would then return to the state.  She 
noted that within colleges, deans could reallocate positions to cover positions that were eliminated. 
   
Staff Senate Chair Arron Sullivent asked for more information on the retirement incentives.    
 
Trustee President John MacPherson noted there would be a plan that defined the criteria and 
timelines for the incentive.  He stated that once the Board acted on the plan, Senate Chair Sullivent 
could have a copy.   
 
Trustee President MacPherson also noted that UW would provide professional counseling to talk 
to staff and faculty about their retirement options.   
 
Vice President Mai returned the Board to a conversation of the FY17 UW operating budget that 
the Board needed to approve at the meeting.  He stated that the reductions due to the penny plan 
and the reallocation of funds to the fiscal system were included in the operating budget. Vice 
President Mai noted that the elimination of 70 positions would save $5.2 million and was also 
another defined reduction.  He stated that there were other components of the budget reeducation 
that were less defined, such as the savings from the retirement outcome, which was expected to 
yield $3 million in savings.  Vice President Mai explained that some of the funding would come 
from using funds in the employer paid benefits pool (EPB).  He stated that UW could use those 
funds but would then need to refill those funds by the end of the year.  Vice President Mai noted 
that another undefined savings would be from standardizing the faculty workload, which would 
result in savings from not needing to hire additional part-time or non-benefited instructors.  Vice 
President Mai shared that another area of savings would come from changing the work structure 
for employees between 50-99% time who received full-time benefits.  He noted that those 
employees would either need to increase their duties to full-time or drop below 50% time and lose 
their benefits, which was estimated to yield $1.5 million.  Vice President Mai noted that UW could 
count the savings from reductions in the employee benefits.  He also discussed bridge funding to 
ease the transition between FY17 and FY18.  Vice President Mai noted that Trustee President 
MacPherson had said that he agreed after they had discussed UW’s long-term budget visions at 
the Board of Trustees Retreat.   



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 4  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  FY 2017 UW Operating Budget Discussion, Nichols/Mai  
  
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
  Work Session 
  Education Session 
  Information Item 

 Other  Specify:  Item for Approval 
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Associate Vice President for Administration Janet Lowe handed out the revised proposed FY17 
budget [see attachment C & D].  She noted that the document presented to the Board used annual 
budget numbers.  Associate Vice President Lowe noted that the document included agency 067 
and its line items, SER, NCAR, Tier I engineering, as well as UW operating funds.  She stated that 
this budget also included agency 167 (medical education) with its two family medicine programs, 
WWAMI and WYDENT, and an accelerated nursing degree.  Associate Vice President Lowe 
made it clear that this was only an operating budget, and it did not include the capital construction 
costs.  She explained that the other organizations that UW was involved in—WICHE and EORC—
were not included in this budget document as the commissions of those state agencies approved 
those budgets.  Vice President Lowe noted that the narrative for the operating budget began on 
page 17 of the Board of Trustees report.  She walked the Board through the operating budget, 
detailed in the handout.   Associate Vice President Lowe noted that Table K on page two of the 
handout was the full operating budget the administration was asking the Board to approve.    

Trustee McKinley asked for clarification that the red number noted on table A, in the third column 
and second row, for $71 million, was a one-time expenditure from the reserve funds and that this 
was not an increase in the annual amount.  Associate Vice President Lowe stated that Trustee 
McKinley was correct and that this was a one-time expenditure using funds from a reserve.   

Associate Vice President Lowe reviewed the increases to the UW budget, such as the standard 
increase and adjustment for employer paid benefits, $4 million in athletics matching funds (this 
was a $1 million reduction from previous years), $1.3 million for the Science Initiative 
programmatic costs, $.5 million for operations and maintenance, health and safety, and utilities, 
and $400,000 per year for the degree in masters for counselor of education.  She stated that UW 
also received one-time appropriations for endowment matching funds, $5 million for the fiscal 
system, $2 million for SER directed to carbon engineering, and $.5 million for WPM 
infrastructure.  Associate Vice President Lowe noted that the 4% tuition increase, that yielded an 
additional $2 million, would include $1.5 million used for operations and maintenance and utilities 
and $.5 million for faculty compensation and Tenure and Promotion raises.  She explained that 
there were also some small increases from differential tuition programs like law, pharmacy, and 
MBA.  Associate Vice President Lowe noted that the administration wanted to review those 
programs and make adjustments for enrollment.  She discussed the use of the UW income fund 
and cash reveres to fund the fiscal system and utilities.  



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 5  
 
Associate Vice President Lowe then discussed the decreases in the proposed budget.  She noted 
that the penny plan reductions had been removed from the budget.  There was then discussion on 
the differences between one-time funding and cuts and reoccurring funding and cuts.  Associate 
Vice President Lowe discussed how UW needed to make some temporary reductions to meet the 
cuts the Governor requested in May.  She noted that in order to meet some of those cuts, UW used 
money from the EPB pool.  Associate Vice President Lowe noted that UW would need to refill 
this fund of money over the next year and that the money to refill this pool would come from the 
funds gleaned from additional vacancies.  She noted that as positions became vacant, those funds 
would be put back into the EPB pool.  Associate Vice President Lowe discussed the $16.2 million 
reduction, which included $6.1 million in savings from eliminating 70 vacancies and their 
associated benefits, changing the benefits and work structure of 50-99% time employees, using 
reserves from IT, Residence Life, Auxiliary Services, and a temporary reduction of the EBP 
funding pool.  She then discussed how UW’s budget items were being reduced.  She noted that 
SER lowered its resource support budget and Tier I Engineering reduced its administrative support 
budget.  Associate Vice President Lowe noted that UW would need to come up with additional 
funds for NCAR, even though this line item was cut, and UW had a contractual obligation under 
its MOU to pay the full amount.   

Trustee John McKinley asked how UW planned to refill the funds taken from the EPD pool.  
Associate Vice President Lowe shared an example that if the separation incentive proposal was 
passed, then as people leave positions, their salary budget and EPB budget would refill the EPB 
pool.   

UW President Nichols added that there were other cost-savings items listed on page two that had 
an undefined amount of savings, and as those were implemented, the saved funds could also 
replenish the EBP pool.   

Trustee John MacPherson asked if UW had a balanced budget.  Associate Vice President Lowe 
responded that it did.    

Associate Vice President Lowe then transitioned the Board to a discussion of the agency 167 
budget.  She noted that agency 167 took an additional 8% reduction, and reduction proposals had 
been submitted.  She noted that some of the revenue generated from the Casper Residency would 
be used to make up some of the reductions.  Associate Vice President Lowe noted that UW was 
also pursuing Graduate Medical Education (GME) funds from the federal government.  She noted 
that other reductions in the budget included WWAMI and WYDENT and their support budgets 
were yet to be determined.  She stated that WWAMI was looking at a $500,000 reduction.  
Associate Vice President Lowe noted that the administration was asking for approval of the FY17 
operating budget for agencies 067 and 167.  She noted that this item was on the Consent Agenda.   

Trustee MacPherson noted that he was going to make a motion to show the support for President 
Nichols’ plan to reduce the budget.  Trustee Jeff Marsh noted he could make the motion as a point 
of order.  Trustee President MacPherson noted that he would make the motion.  Trustee 
MacPherson moved the following: 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 6  
 

University of Wyoming Trustee Resolution 
Approving Proposed Plan to Meet Mandated Budget Reductions 

(Revised 6/14/2016) 
 
WHEREAS, the Wyoming Legislature adopted what is commonly known as the “Penny Plan,” 
the effect of which was to reduce the University of Wyoming’s budget by $5.8 million dollars; and  
 
WHEREAS, thereafter Governor Matt Mead by letter dated May 11, 2016 requested the University 
of Wyoming make an additional $35 million dollar reduction to its 2017-2018 biennium budget; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, it is also necessary for the University of Wyoming to cover its reoccurring utility 
shortfall of $6 million dollars for the biennium; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is also necessary for the University of Wyoming to make a one-time essential 
reallocation of budgeted funds of $18 million dollars; and  
 
WHEREAS, University of Wyoming President, Dr. Laurie Nichols prepared and presented to the 
Board of Trustees A Plan for Budget Reductions at the University of Wyoming (“Financial Plan”) 
designed to meet the current budget issues facing UW under the terms of which it is her intention 
to declare a financial crisis pursuant to University of Wyoming Regulation No. 6-41; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees has reviewed Dr. Nichols’ Financial Plan, considered its 
contents and time lines for implementation;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING AS FOLLOWS:  
 

1. The Financial Plan submitted by President Dr. Nichols for the University of Wyoming is 
hereby approved, ratified and confirmed, including her declaration of a financial crisis 
pursuant to University of Wyoming Regulation No. 6-41.  

2. All University of Wyoming personnel are directed to take such action as may be reasonably 
necessary within the appropriate time frames to insure the full implementation Dr. Nichols’ 
Financial Plan thereby assuring the University of Wyoming realizing the necessary 
reductions to its 2017-2018 biennium budget, the reallocation of funds and the covering of 
the current utility shortfall.  

3. President Nichols is requested to make written monthly reports to the Board of Trustees on 
actions taken and progress realized toward the implementation of her Financial Plan.  
 

Trustee Dave Palmerlee seconded the motion.  All trustees were in favor; the motion passed 
unanimously.  

 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 7  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  FY17 Supplemental Budget to Governor, Nichols/Mai  
  
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Vice President for Administration Bill Mai noted that very little work had been done on the FY17 
supplemental budget request given the nature of the state’s revenues.  He stated that the deadline 
for a supplemental budget request would likely be in August.  Vice President Mai noted that 
discussion was needed with UW President Nichols and the Trustee Budget Committee and that it 
would likely be discussed at the Board of Trustees Retreat in August.   
 
Trustee John McKinley stated that he would be coordinating a budget committee meeting in the 
next week to determine a timeline for the supplemental request.  He stated that he hoped to have a 
supplemental budget request in a form that UW President Nichols was comfortable presenting to 
the Board in August.  Trustee McKinley then discussed the timeline for the FY18 budget and stated 
that he would have the information to the Board in advance of approval.   
 
 
 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 8  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE: FY18 Budget Timeline, Nichols/Mai  
   
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
UW President Laurie Nichols noted that work on the FY18 budget would begin as work on the 
FY17 budget was completed.  She stated that UW was engaged with Huron Consulting to create a 
new fiscal system.  UW President Nichols noted that she had met with Huron Consulting the day 
prior, and they had moved up their timeline and would begin working with UW during the summer.  
She stated this work would help shape the FY18 budget.   

 
 
 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 9  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Gift Policy Discussion, Miller/Mai  
 
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  Item for Approval 
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Vice President and General Counsel Rick Miller noted that the Staff Senate had raised the issue of 
not wanting Staff Senate Recognition Day precluded due to the changes in UW’s gift regulation 
policy.  He noted that there was now a specific exception for Staff Senate Recognition Day in this 
regulation and that the approval of the revised regulation was on the Consent Agenda.  

 
 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 10  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Real Property and Construction Project Updates, Mai  
  
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Vice President for Administration Bill Mai explained the new formatting for the progress 
report/change orders that were listed on page 167 of the Board of Trustees Report.  He noted that 
the new format was easier to follow and that facilities planning had done an excellent job revising 
this.  Vice President Mai briefly discussed the Arena Auditorium and the High Bay Research 
Facility.   

Vice President and General Counsel Rick Miller reminded the Board that at their May 2016 
meeting, UW approved the administration to proceed with construction documents for the Mick 
and Susie McMurry High Altitude Performance Center.  He noted that additional funds would be 
needed for FFE but that this would allow the design effort to move forward.       

Vice President Miller updated the Board on the BSL3 project.  He shared the problems with the 
incinerator and what was being done to address that issue.   Vice President Miller said that the 
administration would present a solution to the Board.  He noted that after the issue was resolved, 
UW would work with the Attorney General’s office to discuss the details of the funding and the 
loan.    

 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 11  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Fall 2016 Projected Enrollment & Campaign, Axelson  
  
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Vice President for Student Affairs Sara Axelson provided the Board with updates on enrollment.  
She noted that the goal was to make sure enrollment would not decline in the fall, so creating a 
plan to grow enrollment in the long term would ensure that fall enrollment was strong in all areas.  
She stated that she had appreciated the phone conversations Vice President for Governmental and 
Community Affairs Chris Boswell and Trustee John McKinley had made to different students.  
Vice President Axelson stated that if there was a desire to contact students, she could provide their 
names and key talking points.   

UW President Nichols stated that she wanted to see enrollment growth in the fall, as the University 
was down 395 students from the previous year and down 120 students in the Outreach Program.   

Vice President Axelson noted that registration policies had changed, implemented in the June 
orientation program, and had begun to affect enrollment numbers.  She noted that more graduates 
had graduated this past year, so there was more of a need for incoming and continuing students.  
Vice President Axelson stated that the previous fall had been one of the strongest classes, and this 
fall’s incoming class was down 100 students from the previous year’s class.  She said that every 
effort was being made to try to increase the incoming freshman class from 1,640 to 1,695 students.  
She then continued to explain why the enrollment numbers were down.  Vice President Axelson 
noted that transfer student enrollment numbers had gone up, with the help of Alyson Hagy and 
Patrice Noel’s efforts.  She told the Board to expect around 1,100 transfer students or more in the 
coming year.  She said that the increased numbers were a result of the articulation, visits to 
community colleges, and monthly email contacts.  Vice President Axelson noted that the freshman 
retention rate was at 76%, and the goal was to have it at 77%.  She added, however, that the 
University reduced probation and suspension rates, with 50 fewer students on probation.  Vice 
President Axelson noted that it helped having UW President Nichols advocate for enrollment 
growth.  She emphasized that the communication with the students, including the Facebook video 
media campaign with Director of Institutional Communications Chad Baldwin, had really been 
helpful.   

Vice President Axelson stated that she, Hagy, and Anne Alexander had been meeting with the 
deans to make certain financial aid dollars were being maximized.  She noted that the University 
was moving towards centralized awards.  Vice President Axelson mentioned that orientation had 
been going well, as she had been receiving positive feedback.   



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 12  
 
Vice President Axelson then discussed the Honors Program, noting that UW President Nichols 
had provided more resources to the program so it would be able to grow its number of incoming 
students.  She noted that there was the potential to have 90 students registered in the program.  She 
added that the “register now” message was being implemented, and scholarships were helping to 
achieve higher enrollment numbers. 

Vice President Axelson then noted that travel to community colleges had been occurring, and the 
academic coordinators who worked for the Outreach Program and lived in community college 
communities were helping with this effort.   

Trustee Michelle Sullivan asked what the current enrollment number was since they had last 
calculated it to be 1,640 students.  

Vice President Axelson responded that following orientation registration, there were 1,540 
students registered.  She then asked Vice President Boswell and Trustee McKinley if they had 
received any information after having made their phone calls.   

Trustee McKinley said that he thought they were behind and would recommend starting those 
conversations in the fall, instead of the summer, to be able to talk to more students before they had 
their decisions made.  He also mentioned that he thought the University was missing out on those 
students who were not admitted.   

Vice President Axelson noted that the Office of Admissions extensively contacted students in the 
fall and spring, prior to the May 1 confirmation date, to confirm and register them.  She stated that 
this was critical for some students and would make an impact on their decision.  Vice President 
Axelson added that deans were making calls, and making them earlier than ever, as it was critical 
to be in contact with those high achieving students.  

Trustee Jeff Marsh stated that he would be involved in this process. 

Vice President Boswell noted that in his experience, it was difficult to actually get a hold of the 
students; instead, leaving messages was more common.  He said that it was important to connect 
with students who had familiar majors, so that it could be more personal.   

Faculty Senate Chair Scott Shaw began the discussion of out-of-state recruitment.  He inquired 
about the advertisement of geographical representation from all 50 states.  Senate Chair Shaw then 
asked if there was a plan in place for those particular states that had been losing representation. 

Vice President Axelson noted that there was a concerted effort being made for out-of-state 
students.  She mentioned that the students in freshmen classes were typically 60% out-of-state and 
40% in-state, but once the students actually arrived on campus, the numbers turned to 70% in-state 
and 30% out-of-state.  She noted that there was a solid representation of incoming out-of-state 
students, with a strong representation from the Denver area and increasing representation from 
Nebraska.  She stated that there was a need to gain students from South Dakota, Montana, and 
Utah, as well as students in the other key markets of Minnesota, Texas, Chicago, and California.  
Vice President Axelson added that social media and Director of the Alumni Association Keener 
Frye’s ability to increase alumni involvement were helping the recruitment process.  She noted, 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 13  
 
however, that UW needed to expand that into the international program.  She stated that the 
strategic enrollment would help with increasing enrollment.  

Senate Chair Shaw stated that universities wanted to say they had students from all 50 states.  He 
noted that along with several other states, Michigan State University had a target program aimed 
to attract Wyoming students.  Chair Shaw stated that the University had presence from other 
schools and looked at Colorado as its primary market.   

Trustee Mel Baldwin commented that he and Trustee Dave Bostrom would call students as well.   

Vice President Axelson said that this opportunity to make phone calls could help in getting students 
to transfer back to the University. 

Massie inquired about why there was a decline in enrollment and what the reduction in students 
meant for the cost of tuition in accordance with budget projections for revenue.   

UW President Nichols referred to the handout, stating that there was no budget for a decline in 
enrollment when assuming flat enrollment.  There was then discussion regarding the enrollment 
decrease and its effect on budgeting. 
Vice President Axelson emphasized that the decline in enrollment was related to the timing of 
registration.  She noted that July 1 would be the next best date to tell how the fall enrollment 
numbers would be.  She stated that the freshman class enrollment numbers were off due to the 
reduction in the Engineering, Nursing, and Honors Programs.  Vice President Axelson noted that 
it had been indicated that the numbers would be even by fall.  
Trustee John McKinley stated that he hoped this did not happen in the future and that students 
likely make their decisions prior to June, so it was necessary to plan ahead.  
Vice President Axelson noted that they would continue to work with students as early as junior 
high school.  She said that they had as many as 1,500 students signed up before orientation started 
in the summer.  Vice President Axelson then said that a system needed to be in place for those 
continuing students. 

Trustee McKinley asked if the deans of the colleges were making the necessary phone calls to 
students, to which Vice President Axelson replied that most of the deans were indeed planning on 
making those calls. 

Vice President Axelson then continued by mentioning that Dean of the College of Engineering 
and Applied Science Michael Pishko had been doing well in helping the college receive funding.  
UW President Nichols emphasized Vice President Axelson’s point by adding that Dean Pishko 
had been using funds from the UW Foundation and the deans’ discretionary funds, which were 
both very important funds.  
Vice President Axelson noted that Hagy had been working with deans and had been doing outreach 
in Gillette to make sure there was a positive presence and good communication with students and 
families.  She then stated that private funds were still available and the Office of Financial Aid 
was taking contacts from miners and could readjust FAFSA if the family needed. 
Trustee President John MacPherson thanked the presenters for sharing their information. 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 14  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Mick & Susie McMurry High Altitude Performance Center 
Update, Mai/Miller/Blalock  
 
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Trustee President MacPherson recused himself from this section of the meeting regarding the RAC 
updates.  Trustee Dave True led the meeting in his place. 

Trustee McKinley noted that there was not a specific update since the committee had not met since 
the May meeting.  He stated that as Vice President and General Counsel Rick Miller had explained 
before, $22 million in private funding had been achieved, and they could proceed from design 
documents to construction documents.  He stated that it was anticipated that the fundraising would 
continue and eventually be able to fully fund all FFE in the budget.  Trustee McKinley stated that 
once the facility was completed, all of the FFE would be fully funded and put in the project.  He 
noted that there were a couple of issues with regards to RAC, which still needed to be discussed.  
He stated that those two issues were the exterior landscaping of the Arena Auditorium and a donor 
recognition issue. 

Vice President Ben Blalock noted that the amount of dollars was $22,668,000 and that carving out 
the FFE was not going to be an issue based on the supporters who had all contributed.  He thanked 
the Board for their support.  Vice President Blalok continued by thanking April Brimmer Kunz for 
the $1 million check she had given for the project.  He noted that she had given over $8 million in 
investments over the years.  Vice President Blalock stated that the momentum was continuing to 
increase, especially with the help of Trustees Dave True, John McKinley, and Jeff Marsh keeping 
everyone on point.  

Trustee True told the Board that he appreciated everyone for their support of the project.   

Trustee President MacPherson returned to the meeting.  

 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 15  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Provost/Vice President for Academic Affairs Search Update, Gern 
  
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Vice President for Research and Economic Development Bill Gern provided the Board with an 
update on the provost search.  He noted that the committee had concluded its work a few weeks 
prior to the meeting and that they had done a great job.  He mentioned that the committee was a 
very large, diverse, and intelligent committee, and he was happy that he was able to be the 
chairperson for the committee. 

UW President Nichols thanked Vice President Gern and the search committee.  She noted that the 
committee had walked her through the three finalists for provost and had shared their strengths 
and weaknesses.  She asked that Vice President Gern share that same information with the Board. 

Vice President Gern listed the names of the three finalists:  Terrance Parker, Kate Miller, and 
Jeffery Thompson, and he shared their backgrounds.  

UW President Nichols talked through each of the candidates, noting that it was clear that two of 
the three candidates were on the top.  She noted that after much thought and discussion, she had 
extended the job offer to one of the two candidates the day before. 

Vice President Gern stated that Alberto, Sal and Susize Carmeio had done a great job.   

Trustee President MacPherson thanked the committee for their work and noted that the trustees 
had been impressed by the candidates that were selected.   

 

 
 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 16  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE: Professors of Practice Update, Bostrom/Tucker Readdy  
 
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Trustee Dave Bostrom began discussion on the Professors of Practice.  He stated that he had met 
with Dr. Tucker Readdy.  Trustee Bostrom noted that that the principle dean involved with the 
Professors of Practice had had a chance to discuss this topic with Faculty Senate Chair Shaw.  He 
stated that some concerns were expressed and that they had every intention to be prepared to draft 
a document to the chair of the Faculty Senate and make a decision as soon as possible.  Trustee 
Bostrom mentioned that this would not be done in time for fall hiring but that he hoped to have it 
in place for future hiring sessions. 

Dr. Readdy stated that there would be advantages to this being put through the Faculty Senate and 
that they would work to make sure it went through with all of the possible concerns addressed.   

 
 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 17  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Request for Federal Grant to Add Satellite Residency in Laramie, 
Steiner/Kevin Murray  

CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Dean of the College of Health Sciences Joe Steiner brought the next topic in front of the Board.  
He mentioned that the thought of developing a federally qualified health center in Laramie had 
been discussed two years prior [see attachment G].  Dean Steiner mentioned that this would be a 
great addition and that he had been working hard to develop a grant to make it happen.  He 
explained to the Board that the letter of intent was due in two days, with the full grant due on July 
15, and that was why the Board had only received the abstract.  He noted that this proposal 
provided many opportunities and that he did not see many disadvantages to it.  Dean Steiner stated 
that it would provide an excellent training site and a way to diversify revenues.  

Dr. Kevin Murray explained that it would convert the status of the center to receive federal funds.   
He noted that if converted to “full” status, they would be able to apply for more grants.  He also 
mentioned that if they could win the grant, those types of grants were typically annually renewed. 

Dean Steiner emphasized to the Board that those grants were very competitive.  He noted that there 
would be three other applications from Wyoming alone.  

Trustee President MacPherson asked if UW would be asked to provide funding under any 
circumstance. 

Dean Steiner noted that Trustee MacPherson was correct and that this would operate as a 
breakeven or profit but would act as more of a non-profit organization.  He stated that it was a part 
of the 167 budget, with the possibility of using WWAMI funds to support it.   

Trustee President MacPherson asked if the University would need to provide facilities.  Steiner 
replied that there were places they could rent from for $4,000 per month.   

Trustee McKinley thanked Dean Steiner and the committee for their presentation.  He noted that 
he had concerns with receiving this under time action was requested.  Trustee McKinley stated 
that his understanding was that a review of the Casper and Cheyenne residency programs was 
occurring.  He then inquired which program would be in Albany County if the grant was applied 
and how long would be needed to maintain it. 

Dr. Murry noted that there were requirements to comply with the performance guidelines, but there 
was no obligation to run it for a certain number of years.  He noted, however, that health centers 
all over the country were closing if they were not sustainable through their own revenue and grant 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 18  
 
funding.  Dr. Murry stated that their intention was not for the health center to be a burden on the 
state or the University, so if it was unable to stand on its own, it would be closed.  

Trustee McKinley inquired about the projections made for the medical fees and services.  He noted 
that in the projections, the fees would end up being more costly than what the grant could cover.  
Trustee McKinley asked if these projections were optimistic or pessimistic, as the numbers for the 
programs in Casper and Cheyenne did not work out positively in the end.  

Dr. Murry stated that these projections were made considering the facilities in Casper and 
Cheyenne, which now received FQHC reimbursement.  He noted that both programs run at deficit 
and require state funding.  He reminded the Board that this program was designed differently. 

Dean Steiner noted that they were using a consultant to understand the finances for this unit.  He 
stated that they had looked at current facilities and patient numbers for the downtown clinic and 
Laramie Reproductive Health.  Dean Steiner added that those projections modeled those numbers 
of patients.   

Mary Kay Hill, Policy Director for the Governor, said both centers had too different strengths and 
weakness.  She inquired if the government structure was separate from the University or not.  

Dean Steiner noted that the governance structure was similar to the one used for the FQHC, which 
was the Education Health Center of Wyoming.  He noted that it would have a board of directors, 
with 51% of the patients on the board.  Dean Steiner stated that this was because the board had 
patient representation and functioned under the same set of bylaws and co-applicant agreement as 
UW, which specified that UW was a grant-receiving entity.  

Director Hill inquired about what would happen if the entity was sued.  He asked who would be 
liable for the damages if that were the case.   

Dr. Murry responded that this would be like how the residencies were structured.  He noted that 
the legal CFO and CIO were both from UW.  He stated that medical legalities were handled 
through the state, but he thought that maybe UW would handle the cases.   

Trustee Massie stated that this seemed like a win-win for UW’s problem with its residency 
program, as Wyoming was the only state in the country that did not receive federal money to 
support its residency program.   He noted that normally states received clinical incomes and federal 
money.  He stated that the federal government had been adamant in not giving the state funding.   
Trustee Massie stated that Governor Mead created a footnote in 2011 or 2012 to study how to 
better fund residency programs without ongoing funding increases.  He noted that the 
establishment of a Laramie program was a backdoor to receiving federal funding.  Trustee Massie 
explained that if UW were to receive that grant, Casper and Cheyenne could possibly qualify for 
other federal monies, thus bringing more financial stability, as well as increased educational 
opportunities for nursing and WWAMI, especially since WWAMI students were now at the 
University for two years and in need of clinical sites.   

Trustee MacPherson asked if that was a violation of the original legislative mandate, to which 
Trustee Massie replied that it was not. 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 19  
 
Trustee Marsh noted that he supported the concept and thanked Dean Steiner for his presentation. 

UW President Nichols stated that she also thought it was a good idea and noted that it was 
important to move forward with the proposal as this was what was needed, and the deadline was 
July 15. 

Trustee McKinley asked if the Board would be approving only the letter of intent or if the Board 
was approving the whole grant application, as the Board would not meet again before the grant 
application needed to be submitted.   

Trustee President MacPherson stated that he thought the Board would need to approve the whole 
grant.   

Trustee Massie moved to grant approval for UW to move forward with the grant application.  
Trustee Bostrom seconded.   

Dean Steiner noted that this would also have to be approved by the Governor.  He stated that if 
there were any concerns between submitting the letter of intent and the full application, these 
concerns could be voiced to the Governor.   

Trustee Massie noted that he would make his motion subject to the conditions of the Governor.  
Trustee Bostrom agreed as well.  All trustees were in favor.  Trustee Scarlett abstained from the 
vote stating that he did not have enough information to make a decision. 

 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 20  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Discussion of Governor’s Request for Joint Program Involving the 
Wyoming Business Council and UW on Economic Development, MacPherson/McKinley  
  
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
Trustee John McKinley began discussion on what the University’s role should be in assisting with 
economic diversification.  He noted that the Governor had spoken with the Wyoming Business 
Council, himself, and Trustee John MacPherson to discuss that very topic.  He stated that the 
purpose of the discussion was to begin to understand what the strategy would be with regards to 
diversifying the economy going forward and how UW could assist with that diversification.  
Trustee McKinley noted that it was very early in the discussion and that the UW administration 
would continue having discussions in addressing this issue as a part of the long-term plan for the 
University.  He stated that generating intellectual capital in students and putting that on paper was 
a strategy that needed to be determined.  

Trustee MacPherson noted that the handout touched base on that subject [see attachment E].  He 
stated that this item was on the agenda so that if any trustee was opposed, the discussion could be 
held since there was another meeting scheduled for that Friday.   

Policy Director for Governor Mary Kay Hill stated UW’s role was to have a statewide presence in 
terms of the Governor’s vision.  She said things were happening at UW that contributed to the 
economy’s well-being.  She noted that the Governor wanted the timeline to be aggressive and to 
have a proposal done by August.  She noted that this was a great opportunity for UW to build 
credibility and value.   

Trustee MacPherson noted that the University would continue with this if there were no strong 
objections. 

 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 21  
 
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Trustee Retreat Planning Update, MacPherson  
  
CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX(ES): 
      Work Session 
      Education Session 
      Information Item 

     Other  Specify:  
  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING: 
 
Trustee President John MacPherson noted that he had several discussions with various people 
and that he intended to put an agenda together for the event.  Trustee President MacPherson 
noted that Vice Chairman of the UW Foundation April Brimmer Kunz, and others had been 
developing the guest list for the trustees community event.   

 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 22  
 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016 
Business Meeting 
Marian H. Rochelle Gateway Center, Salons D & E 
 
Roll Call 
Secretary for the Board Jeff Marsh took roll. 
 
Trustee Jeff Marsh took roll at 2:27 p.m.   

Not present: Jillian and Brent not present.  No Rose.   
 
Public Testimony  
[Wednesday, June 15, from 11:30 a.m.- 12:00 p.m.] 
Chip Kobulnicky, a professor of physics and astronomy, and Cynthia Weinig, a professor in the 
Department of Botany, presented information about the Science Initiative (SI).    

Dr. Kobulnicky stated he wanted to share some good news about the Science Initiative and the 
progress it had made in the last year.  He noted that he was excited by the initiative, as it allowed 
UW faculty to teach science to the next generation and complete research.  Dr. Kobulnicky shared 
how he taught collaborative labs and lectures in the Enzi STEM Facility and how this had caused 
failure rates to go down and student performance to increase.   He shared the importance of 
research to both teaching and graduate students.  Dr. Kobulnicky stated that it was predicted that 
65% of school children would work in a career that does not currently exist and that those careers 
would be technology oriented.   He stated that he recently read an article about intellectual capital 
in Denver and how that had caused economic growth.  He noted that the SI could provide some of 
that same growth for Wyoming.   

Dr. Weinig shared information on recent research at UW, including applying for a $20 million 
NSF grant, which would increase UW research capacity and stimulate economic development.  
She noted that this was headed up by the faculty in the Science Initiative.  She shared more 
information on her research involving microorganisms and how microorganisms affect the soil 
and land reclamation and tourism.  Dr. Weinig noted that a partnership with the Wyoming 
Technology Business Center existed to teach students business practices.  She noted that UW was 
leveraging the state’s investment in UW through the Science Initiative.  

Jordyn Brophy, an undergraduate student in the Department of Chemistry, gave the Board an 
update on her involvement with the Wyoming Research Scholars Program.  She updated the Board 
on her research project and noted that she had secured a provisional patent and that they had 
secured a $200,000 research grant.  Ms. Brophy noted that this program had prevented her from 
dropping out due to funds and gave her direction in her life.  She stated that she would be applying 
for doctoral programs in the fall and that she expected her doctoral work to be fully funded.   



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 23  
 
Dr. Kobulnicky noted that Ms. Brophy was one of 44 students participating in the WRS program 
from 18 departments.  He noted that he used this as a recruitment tool, as it enticed students who 
could have gone to an Ivy League school to come to UW.  He thanked the Board for their support 
of the Science Initiative.   

Dr. Robert Sprague asked if UW had declared a financial exigency.    

Trustee John MacPherson responded that UW did not declare a financial exigency.  He stated that 
UW Regulation 6-41 provided the mechanism to address a financial crisis.  Trustee President 
MacPherson noted that due to cuts from the penny plan and at the request of the Governor and 
internal reallocations, the intent was to follow UW Regulation 6-41, the first step being to declare 
a financial crisis.  He stated that the Board was not declaring a financial exigency, and this step 
could only come into place after the financial crisis plan was developed.    

UW President Laurie Nichols noted that work would begin on that now and that she would declare 
a financial crisis.  She stated that a campus meeting would be held the following Tuesday or 
Wednesday.   

 
Items for Approval 

1. Approval of the FY 2017 UW Operating Budget  
2. Appointment of Board members – UW Research Corporation (WRI’s Board) – Gern  
3. Approval of Revisions to Gift Policy – Miller/Mai  
4. Approval of Revision to UW Regulations 2-178 and 2-179 – Miller  
5. Approval of ASUW Finance Policy Changes and ASUW Reserve Request – Axelson  
6. Approval of Changes to ASUW Constitution – Axelson  
7. Approval of Vendor Selection for Fiscal System (per discussion during Executive Session) 

– True/Mai 
 
Trustee President John MacPherson asked that the items on the Consent Agenda be voted on and 
that UW Regulation 4-2 be voted on separately since Trustee Mike Massie had a conflict.   

Trustee Dave True stated that he would like recommend the removal of the last time on the Items 
for Approval list, “Approval of Vendor Selection”, as he had a proposed specific motion for that 
action.  There were no objections; the item was removed.   

Trustee John McKinley moved that the Board approve the amendments to University Regulation 
4-2 proposed by the president to establish a retirement and separation incentive plan and to modify 
the University’s policy regarding conversion of sick leave upon retirement or separation.   

Trustee Jeff Marsh seconded; the motion passed unanimously. Trustee McKinley noted that a 
complete copy of the changes were shared with the Board [see attachment F].  All trustees were in 
favor; the motion passed unanimously.  Trustee Mike Massie declared a conflict and abstained 
from voting. 



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 24  
 
Trustee Dave True moved that the Board authorize the Vice President for Administration Bill Mai 
to enter into contract negotiations with the preferred vendor in an amount not to exceed the 10-
year agreement amount specified in the Executive Session, as it related to the updated budget plan 
for the overall UW Financial Process and Reporting Assessment Initiative Plan, as discussed in 
this meeting’s minutes.  Trustee Mel Baldwin seconded; the motion passed unanimously. 

Trustee President John MacPherson asked if there was any further discussion.  Trustee Marsh 
moved that the Items for Approval be approved.  Trustee Dave Bostrom seconded; the motion 
passed unanimously.    

Trustee McKinley moved to reconvene the business meeting.  Trustee Marsh seconded; all were 
in favor.  

Trustee McKinley noted that he thought there was one more item to be considered under access 
easement.  He moved that that the Board grant the access easement near 45th Street and Crow 
Drive, as discussed during the Executive Session.  Trustee Dick Scarlett seconded this motion; all 
were in favor. 
 
Adjournment 
Trustee President John MacPherson adjourned the meeting at 2:35 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Shannon Sanchez      Laura Wespetal  
Deputy Secretary, Board of Trustees    Senior Administrative Assistant 
  



The University of Wyoming  
Minutes of the Trustees 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 25  
 
Other Action Taken 
Wednesday, June 15 ,2016 
 
Trustee McKinley noted that he thought there was one more item to be considered under access 
easement.  He moved that that the Board grant the access easement near 45th Street and Crow 
Drive, as discussed during the Executive Session.  Trustee Dick Scarlett seconded this motion; all 
were in favor. 
 
 
 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 26  
 

 

ATTACHMENT A  

A Plan for Budget Reduction at the University of Wyoming 
May, 2016 

 
Guiding Principles 

The University of Wyoming aspires to be one of the nation’s finest public land-grant research 
universities.  We serve as a statewide resource for accessible and affordable higher education of 
the highest quality; rigorous scholarship; technology transfer; economic and community 
development; and responsible stewardship of our cultural, historical, and natural resources.  As 
Wyoming’s only University, we are committed to outreach and service that extend our human 
talent and technological capacity to serve the people in our communities, our state, the nation and 
the world.  These aspirations will be central to the decisions on how UW will respond and adapt 
to reduced State support.  Below are principles that will be used to guide the development of budget 
reduction plans. 
 
Staying True to our Mission  

• Budget reductions should have minimal impact on student success including recruitment/access, 
retention, persistence, transfer ease, and timely completion of degree. 

• UW will continue to place the quality of academic programs, both at the graduate and 
undergraduate level as the highest priority. Our most enduring legacy is its graduates, who use 
their education to better their lives, our state, and the world around them. 

• UW will maintain or enhance excellence in research, scholarship and creative activity which 
contributes to the state’s economy and enriches society. 

• UW will preserve its state-wide presence through outreach, extension and UW athletics. 
 
Essential to our Core 

• UW will strive to attract, retain, and reward high quality employees who contribute to a diverse 
campus community.   

• The safety and health of students, faculty, staff or visitors, or UW’s compliance with applicable 
laws will not be compromised. 

• The ability of the University to perform essential operation or maintenance of the physical plant 
will be maintained. 

 
Cost savings and Revenue enhancing opportunities 

• As the University works to address reductions in state funding to the University, it must also 
increase private support and explore entrepreneurial opportunities to diversify and grow other 
revenue streams.  

• UW will emphasize cost savings through driving inefficiencies out of the University’s operations. 
 
Process 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 27  
 

 

• The University will be as transparent as possible in dealing with budget reductions and provide 
on-going communication with the campus and constituencies. 

 
 

Budget Reduction Plan to Realize $26 million in FY17 

 
Permanent Budget Cuts      $19,300,100     

1. Implement $7 million budget reduction submitted in early April       
Savings:  $7 Million 
 

2. Eliminate 70 vacant positions.  (Note:  Positions fully paid by external funding sources i.e. 
grants, contracts, gifts may be filled; several critical hires will continue).  Keep a strong 
inventory of vacancies and rectify hiring on a case-by-case basis once permanent position 
elimination has been fully determined.  
Savings:  $3.6 million salary + $1.6 million FB = $5.2 Million 
 

3. Standardize faculty workload for fall semester as follows: 
a. Professorial faculty are assigned a 2/3 or 3/2 workload.  Faculty can buyout teaching 

load with external funding.   
b. Academic Professional faculty are assigned a 4/4 teaching load. 
c. On-line courses taught in-load. 
d. Immediate embargo on temporary academic appointments for fall 2016 (i.e., non-

extended term academic professional lecturers, research scientists, extension 
educators, temporary faculty appointments, visiting faculty appointments).    Savings:  
$2.5 Million 

4.  No positions allowed where the appointment is at or greater than .50 FTE (50% time) 
and less than 1 FTE (100% time). 
Savings:  $1.5 Million 
 

5. No overtime, no faculty overload, no additional compensation effective immediately.                                                                                                                        
Savings:  at least $100,000  

 
6. Offer a retirement incentive to qualified employees. 

Savings (estimate) 50 FTE   $3 Million in FY17; $6 million in FY18  

 

One-time Budget Cuts for FY17 (with Permanent Budget Cuts identified for FY18)
 $6,550,000 

7. One-time contribution from reserves as follows: 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 28  
 

 

$500,000 President’s Office 
$500,000 Residential Life & Dining Services 
$500,000 Information Technology 
$500,000 Audit Reserve 
$1,250,000 Outreach School 
$1,250,000 Colleges outreach funds 

Savings:  $4.5 Million 
 
8. Savings realized in FY16 from salary salvage and operating expenses 

Savings:  unknown but potentially $1-2 Million 
 

9. Voluntary reduction of summer hours for employees to 32 hours (with pay for 32 hours).  
Hours of work approved by supervisor. 
Savings:  Unknown, perhaps $50,000 
 

10. Only if absolutely needed but would prefer to not use this strategy: furlough all employees 
during FY 2017 for 4 days in December (20-23) 
Savings:  $2 Million 

 

Other Actions* 

11. Standardize course/section enrollment as follows: 
a. Evaluate all course caps and raise whenever possible. 
b. Standardize 10/5 low enrollment (10 students minimum to offer undergraduate 

course; 5 students minimum to offer graduate course).  2% of all sections allowed 
as exceptions justified to the Provost on a course by course basis. 

c. For multiple section courses, employ a minimum of 85% fill rate. 
 

12. Limit out-of-state travel; limit conference attendance; limit professional development 
spending. 
 

13. Cap student labor at same level as FY16 or lower. 

*These will result in some savings but potential savings is difficult to estimate  



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 29  
 

 

Budget Plan for 2017-2018 (for FY18) 
Target of $10-16 Million Permanent Savings with plan developed by August 31, 2016 

 

Budget Reductions 

1. By August 31, complete academic program review process.  Identify low productivity/low 
outcomes programs and process for elimination will be initiated.    
 

2. Review non-academic programs/services and reduce, combine or eliminate those non-
essential to core functions. 
 

3. Study organization and structure of Colleges and non-academic units.   Combine units and 
consolidate functions where possible to realize efficiencies and reduce administrative 
overhead.   
 

4. Review all administrative appointments with a goal of leaning up; standardize administrative 
compensation.  Expand management oversight to like departments/units. 
 

5. Begin realigning vacancies to high-need, high-priority areas and continue to eliminate 
positions where possible.  
  

6. Analyze all positions and move 12 month appointments to 9 or 10 month contracts where 
possible. 

 
7. Study opportunities to reduce staffing level or task frequency (e.g. custodial cleaning; service 

hours of transit system, etc.) 
 

8. Evaluate opportunities to outsource University operations to off-load personnel (labor) and 
introduce new revenue to university (e.g. dining services, custodial). 

 
Revenue Growth 

9. Develop a plan to fully utilize endowment and gift dollars, putting them to work for the 
university on an annual basis. 
 

10. Develop a plan for program fees/differentiated tuition for high-cost programs. 
 

11. Develop a plan to increase out of state enrollment with significantly less discounting. 
 

 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 30  
 

 

Longer term fiscal plan  

 
1. Develop strong strategic plan to include higher fiscal performance. 

 
2. Implement an integrated budget and accounting system; analyze budget staffing; develop strong 

reporting function; train employees. 
 

3.  Develop a plan to diversify revenue, relying less on increases to state support. 
 

4. Study tuition elasticity and develop a long-term plan for tuition and fees. 
 

5. Implement a Responsibility-centered Management (RCM or decentralized) budget model. 
 

6. Develop a strategic enrollment plan and grow enrollment to align UW faculty-student ratio and 
average cost per students to peer institutions. 

7. Optimize public and private funded scholarship resources to meet student enrollment objectives.  
 

8. Develop a campus resident hall and dining plan; bond renovations or new buildings; revamp 
charges to align with amenities. 
 

9. Refresh or develop other plans to align with the strategic plan:  Campus master plan; College 
plans; Athletic plan; Diversity plan, etc. 
 

10. Incentivize external funding and grow tech transfer. 
 

11. Develop standardized faculty workload system including reports. 
 

12. Develop a merit salary policy and on-going plan for salary increases.  
 

13. Study and when feasible, develop private/public partnerships. 
 

14. Launch a capital campaign to support the strategic plan. 

  



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 31  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 1  
 

 

   ATTACHMENT B  



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 2  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 3  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 4  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 5  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 6  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 7  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 8  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 9  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 10  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 11  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 12  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 13  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 14  
 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 15  
 

 

  



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 16  
 

 

   
ATTACHMENT C 

 

 

 

 

 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 17  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 18  
 

 

 

 

 



19 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 19  
 

 

ATTACHMENT D 
 

 
 



20 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 20  
 

 

 



21 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 21  
 

 

 
 



22 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 22  
 

 

 
  



23 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 23  
 

 

ATTACHMENT E 

Materials provided from 
Trustee President John MacPherson 

to the Board on 6-15-16 
 
Task at Hand.  Governor Mead has tasked the Wyoming Business Council (WBC) and University 
of Wyoming (UW) to join efforts to develop a joint 20-year diversification strategy for Wyoming's 
economy--a strategy that will have staying power beyond changes in state and 
university administrations.  The strategy should align the efforts of both organizations, other state 
agencies and Wyoming’s community colleges.  The strategy should be visionary, performance 
based, and transcend changes in technologies and markets.  He has asked that the WBC and UW 
develop the strategy by August 2016.   

Discussion: 
Agency leads 

• The mission of the WBC is to "increase Wyoming's prosperity--prosperity for 
industries, businesses, communities, families and people".   

• The mission of UW (excerpt) is to "aspire to be one of the nation's finest public 
land-grant research universities.  We serve as a statewide resource for accessible 
and affordable higher education of the highest quality; rigorous scholarship; 
technology transfer, economic and community development; and responsible 
stewardship of our cultural historical, and natural resources." 

20 year horizon 
• A 20 year strategy is a long term commitment.   
• The strategy should be adaptable and will need to be updated from time to time.  
• The Governor will consider ways to ensure execution of the strategy over the 20 

years--through formal organizational structure, agreement, or executive order. 
Diversification 

• The strategy should focus on diversifying Wyoming's economy—a specific 
outcome of economic development that requires tactics moving Wyoming away 
from a commodity-based economy, increasing resilience of Wyoming industries. 

• Diversification complements the Governor's goal of making technology the fourth 
largest sector of Wyoming's economy. 

Alignment 
• This is not a plan for the WBC or UW--it is a strategy for all Wyoming and its 

public agencies.   
• It reflects the same spirit of Governor Mead's Energy and Water Strategies.  

Visionary 
• The strategy must stand apart from other economic development plans of the past.  
• It must include blue sky and big thinking. 
• It must be bold and inspire action. 

Performance based 
• The strategy should include benchmarks, metrics and regular updates.  



24 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 24  
 

 

Changing markets and technologies 
• Markets and technologies will change over time.  The strategy should work under 

changing circumstances adapt to an ever-changing global economy. 
Two months 

• The task at hand may result in a high level framework that will ultimately be 
expanded over time. 

• The WBC has a framework that can be used as a starting point.  

 

  



25 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 25  
 

 

ATTACHMENT F 



26 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 26  
 

 



27 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 27  
 

 



28 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 28  
 

 



29 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 29  
 

 



30 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 30  
 

 



31 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 31  
 

 



32 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 32  
 

 



33 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 33  
 

 



34 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 34  
 

 



35 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 35  
 

 



36 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 36  
 

 



37 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 37  
 

 

 



38 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 38  
 

 

ATTACHMENT G 

 



39 

The University of Wyoming  
Board of Trustees’ Minutes  
Wednesday, June 15, 2016  
Page 39  
 

 
 


	THE UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING
	MINUTES OF THE TRUSTEES
	June 15, 2016
	AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  FY 2017 UW Operating Budget Discussion, Nichols/Mai
	AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  FY17 Supplemental Budget to Governor, Nichols/Mai
	AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Real Property and Construction Project Updates, Mai
	AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Fall 2016 Projected Enrollment & Campaign, Axelson
	AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Provost/Vice President for Academic Affairs Search Update, Gern
	AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Trustee Retreat Planning Update, MacPherson


